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Ms. Kim Stevenson

Federal Election Commission
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Dear Ms. Stevenson:

Attached is the original copy my complaint as requested. I do hope that FEC
will impose appropriate fines on the parties involved.

Simply Yours,

E Pluribus Unum

Mo M/L

G. M. (Bill) Quraishi
For Stronger, Prouder & Better America

Encl: As above
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
COMPLAINT
(11 C.P.R. 5. 111.4)
(2 U.8.C. 437g(a) (1))
AGAINST:

Richard Swett, Thomas Lantos,
The New Hampshire Democratic State Committee and
the National Democratic Committee

NOW COMES G.M. (Bill) Quraishi of 416 St. Joseph Avenue, Half
Moon Bay, California, 94019, and complains against:

A. Richard Swett, Member of Congress
19 Dow Road
Bow, New Hampshire 03304

Thomas Lantos, Member of Congress
520 E1 Camino Road
San Mateo, California 94402-1797

The N.H. Democratic State Committee
20 North Main Street
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

The Democratic National Committee
430 South Capital Street, S.E.
Washington, D.C. 20003

and says, under oath, as follows:

1. That Richard Lantos-Swett filed his candidacy for office

as the Democratic candidate for the Second Congressional District
on June 4 , 1990, and did so as "Dick" Swett.

2. That the Treasurer of the Swett campaign was Dick Swett's
wife, Katrina Lantos-Swett.

3. That the Treasurer of Congressman Tom Lantos' (D.Cal.)
campaign is his daughter, the same Katrina Lantos-Swett.

COUNT I
Personal Use By Lantos of Campaign Funds

Katrina Lantos-Swett would be entitled to reasonable




compensation for her services as Treasurer of her father's

campaign. Her total consulting fees for preparing her father's

reports are set forth as follows, as obtained from FEC filings:
LANTOS
Consulting & Reimbursement to daughter
Katrina Lantos-Swett
CONSULTING REIMBURSEMENT
-0- $763.17
-0~ 1,277.75
$10,000. 1,475.37
(paid lump 4/27/87
1 month before closing on
her house in Bow).

7,500.00 885.04 8,385.04
11,400.00 1,681.31 13,081.31
21,458.75 2,614.37 25,791.81

plus: 1,718.69
(combined consulting
& reimbursement)

5. The dramatic increase in her payment to almost two
thousand dollars a month during 1990 was in fact an excess campaign
contribution by Tom Lantos because the additional payment by her
father was unjustified based upon her full time commitment as
manager and treasurer of her husband's campaign. Lantos had
already made a maximum contribution of $2,000 to Swett. (TAB 1).

6. This extra Lantos payment was, on information and belief,
a campaign subsidy to mask the fact that Katrina's husband had
virtually no income, having been on leave from his father's company
and campaigning full time. (TAB 2).

7. Congressman Lantos has a pattern of using campaign funds

as a family enterprise as can be seen by the $10,000 paid to
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Katrina Lantos-Swett on April 27, 1987. For the two prior years as
Treasurer there were ng consulting fees paid to Katrina. Then,
just one month prior to closing on their house in Bow, Tom Lantos
suddenly writes a check for $10,000 as a "consulting" fee. (TAB
3). The house closing in Bow occurred on May 28, a month later.
(TAB 4). On information and belief, your complainant asserts that
the closing documents on the house will reflect that the $10,000
was used for this personal purpose.
8. As further examples of personal use of campaign funds as
a welfare program for in-laws are:

1) Payments to Katrina's father-in-law Phil Swett of
Gilford, New Hampshire, an engineer, as a "consultant® in a
California House campaign:

7/14/88: $200.00

7/18/88: 100.00

7/26/88: 425.00

8/10/88: 425.00

8/12/88: 66.16

8/15/88: 220.00

$1,436.16 (TAB 5)

2) Payments to son-in-law Timber Dick who married Tom's
other daughter Annette (TAB 6) and went on the campaign
payroll to the tune of $32,000 in 1988 as follows according to
Lantos' F.E.C. reports:

April 23 $4,000.00

June 7 "

July 8

August 2

August 24

September 30

November 1

November 30
{(Total) $32,000.00
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9. That the facts alleged in paragraphs 4-8 violate 2 U.S.C,
s. 439a and House Rule XLIII, clause 6 because campaign funds were
used to personally benefit family members and in-laws thereaby
turning the contributions into a "jobs program" for children and
in-laws for the personal benefit of the Lantos and Swett families.
(TAB 7).

I
Excess Contribution by Lantos

10. That Tom Lantos having made a maximum contribution in

1990 to his son-in-law (TAB 1) was unable to legally provide

additional funds to him either directly or indirectly.
Nonetheless, on information and belief, his computer and software
was used free of charge by the Swett campaign. One Jill Hadaway of
Bow was paid by both campaigns (TAB 8) by the same Treasurer
(Katrina), using common equipment for report preparation. The
identical letterhead was used by Jill (but for the name difference
at the top) as can be seen by the attached letters for both
campaigns done typed by: KLS/jh. (TAB 9). This use of equipment
and software free of charge to Swett is an 1illegal excess
contribution by Tom Lantos.
COUNT IIIX
Barmarking and Laundering of Contributions
through State Party and National Party
to aid Sswett
11. Congressman Lantos' pattern of contributions as

maintained in his F.E.C. reports prepared by daughter Katrina

Lantos-Swett show the following contributions to other campaigns:




@ @

CYCLE TOTAL N.H.ONLY

1985-86 (California only $5,749.00 -0-
were recipients)

1987-88 10,125.00 500.00
1989-90 56,700.00 $50,100.00

In 1989-90 the massive one hundred-fold increase in
New Hampshire funding was to launder money to evade that state's
unique $200,000 spending cap that Swett, under oath, had agreed to.
This was done as follows:

12. On October 20, 1990, Tom Lantos gave $10,000 to the New
Hampshire Democratic Party and on October 23 the Party acknowledged
its receipt on Schedule A of its F.E.C. filing for October 18 to
November 26. (TAB 11). Then on October 4, Tom Lantos wrote a
$30,000 check to the Democratic National Committee which, in turn,
funnelled Tom's $30,000 contribution plus an additional $9,000.00
to the New Hampshire Democratic State Committee federal account.
(TAB 12). This $39,000, plus $1,000 to the Granite State
Coalition to help Swett, came from a Congressman 3,000 miles
away who under federal law could (and did) only give $2,000 to his
son-in-law directly. With the convenience of the same treasurer
for both interlocking campaigns, the $40,000 was received and spent
at the New Hampshire Democratic Party for postage, polling, phone
banks and other services for Mr. Swett and not the entire federal
ticket.

13. The above two paragraphs, and several to follow, on

information and belief, form a pattern of earmarking of funds
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orally to be directed by Lantos' friends and contributors to his
son-in-law's campaign in violation of 11 C.F.R. 110.6 as set forth
in TAB 13 and the cases before the Federal Election Commission in
TAB 14.

Further examples of illegal earmarking through unreported
conduits are set forth in paragraphs below.

14. The Abrahams: On June 27, 1990, Daniel Abraham of New
York gave a maximum of $2,000 to Swett. His wife Tammy joined him
on October 16 with a $1,000 contribution. Because she could not

give any more, the Abrahams of New York on October 31, 1990,

gave $5,000 each to the New Hampshire Democratic State Committee

(hereinafter D.S.C). This $10,000 was for the benefit of Dick
Swett's campaign and was laundered through the state account of the
D.S.C. for his benefit. (TAB 15). The Abrahams had earlier been
contributors to Lantos in 1986 and 1988 and thus were his to direct
to New Hampshire in 1990. (TAB 16).
15. The Gottsteins: The Gottsteins from Anchorage, Alaska,
gave their funding for Swett as follows:
Barney Gottstein 5/16/90 $1,000.00
Rachel Gottstein 5/16/90 1,000.00
David Gottstein 9/6/90 1,000.00
James Gottstein 9/11/90 1,000.00
Robert Gottstein 9/11/90 1,000.00
Then on October 25, 1990, James Gottstein gave $1,000 to the
federal account of the New Hampshire Democratic State Committee.
But they were not content with what they had done so far for Mr.

Swett. Swett's treasurer well knew she could not take $10,000 more

in contributions from the Gottsteins, so B.J. and Rachel Gottstein
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each gave $5,000 to the New Hampshire D.S.C. (TAB 17). The
additional $11,000 over and above the $5,000 previously directly
given to Dick Swett were expenditures that legally must be
earmarked on his account, and thus violate federal law.

16. Mayor Diane Feinstein: On October 16, 1989, former Mayor
of San Francisco, Diane Feinstein, gave $1,000 to Tom Lantos. On
July 12, 1990, Tom gave Mayor Feinstein back an identical $1,000
contribution. Despite the Mayor's need for cash in her race for
Governor of California, she managed to give an exact $1,000 to Dick
Swett on November 2, 1990. Katrina Lantos-Swett handled all three

transactions as treasurer of both Congressional races. (TAB 18).

COUNT IV
Earmarking and Allocation Violations

17. Allocation guidelines are set forth in 11 C.F.R. 106 and

11 C.F.R. 102. Just as the case of C v. West Virgini
State Committee was a violation of law (TAB 19) so was the action

by the New Hampshire Democratic Party in running an illegal money

laundry for the Lantos-directed funds that flowed to benefit Swett
and not proportionally the entire federal ticket of races in New
Hampshire.

18. Rowan Group: As an example of the subterfuge of money

laundered through the New Hampshire D.S.C., is the polling of
Michael Rowan of the Rowan Group. A review of expenditures by Tom
Lantos shows that at no time in the period before 1990 has he ever
used the Rowan Group. Dick Swett hired Rowan to poll and recommend

strategy and paid Rowan as follows:
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7/27/90 $4,663.14
8/30/90 1,926.44
9/24/90 755.21
10/5/90 3,300.00

(TAB 20) $10,644.79

Tom Lantos paid Rowan for his son-in-law's polling in New Hampshire
as follows:
8/9/90 $2,500.00
8/30/90 4,125.00
10/24/90 4,400.00
(TAB 21) $11,025.00
The New Hampshire D.S.C. also weighed in with an October 1
expense of $4,000 for Rowan (TAB 21). This was also not allocated
to Swett expenditures and violates the law as does Lantos'
contribution of $11,025.00.
There were only three New Hampshire federal candidates and a

comparative analysis of their records shows no help for two

candidates' pollsters by Lantos or the D.S.C.:

KEEFE FOR 1ST DISTRICT IN CONGRESS:
Penn & Schoen Polling

2/8/90 $5,000.00
4/3/90 5,000.00
5/1/90 5,000.00
10/1/90 7,000.00
10/9/90 88.20
10/22/90 2,000.00
10/29/90 500.00
BALANCE OWED: 2,500.00

(TAB 23) TOTAL $27,088.20

DURKIN FOR SENATE:

Greenberg-Lake Polling

4/18/90 $8,250.00
7/2/90 1,546.43
10/16/90 1,000.00
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11/26/90 4,000.00
BALANCE OWED: 9,276.00

(TAB 24) TOTAL $24,072.43

A comparison of the three pollster consultants shows the
consistency of their billing:

Durkin pollster: $24,072.43

Keefe pollster: 27,088.20

Swett pollster: 25,669.79
The difference is that Swett violated the law to use his father-in-
law and the D.S.C. to launder $15,025 of his polling expenses "off
the books," because he had agreed to the spending limit.

19. That the funneling of money through the Democratic
National Committee by Congressman Lantos and his chosen
contributors is seen clearly by what the DNC has done in the past
and what it did this year in comparison to other states. The
contributions given to New Hampshire by the DNC in the past
election cycles for federal candidates are as follows:

1985-1986 5,000.

1987-1988 10,000.

1989-1990 51, 000. (TAB 25)
This increase in large part came between October 25 and November 2
when the DNC gave a total of $41,000 just three weeks after
Congressman Lantos gave the DNC his record breaking $30,000 check
handled by his treasurer, and Swett's campaign manager, Katrina
Lantos-Swett, as discussed above in Count III.

20. That the DNC contribution was aimed at the Swett campaign
is obvious because far larger states got very little more than New

Hampshire did in 1990. The complete list of state party

contributions from the DNC is contained in Tab 26. Neighboring
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Vermont with one seat got $4,999 while Maine got $5,676 for two
races, one an open seat. But Congressman Lantos had no interest in
those states. 1In fact, Massachusetts with 11 Congressional seats
and a tough strong Senate race got less money from the DNC
($50,000) than did New Hampshire ($51,000). Only 7 states in the
nation got more DNC money and they all had multiple major races:

Michigan 85,460.

Illinois 71,062.

Texas 70,551,

Kentucky 67,714.

North Carolina 65,625,

Florida 62,938.

Hawaii 51,225.

New Hampshire 51,000.
Complainant asserts that the $51,000 received by New Hampshire was
earmarked for the Swett race and should be so allocated as well.

21. Total federal receipts by the New Hampshire Democratic

State Committee for 1990 are actually in fact higher at $60,000

according to the federal filing by the Democratic State Committee
at the New Hampshire Secretary of State's office. The D.S.C.
reported receipts on the following dates: (TAB 27).

August 16 ASDC Dem. V. Fund 1,300
September 21 ASDC Den. V. Fund 2,700
October 15 DNC 10,000
October 26 DNC 39,000
November 9 Victory '90 Federal 1,000
October 29 Fund for a Dem. Majority 5,000
September 19 Dem. Congressional Fund 1,000

60,000.

22. On July 24, 1990, the Democratic Congressional Campaign

Committee gave $5,000 to the State Party. (TAB 28). This had to

be for federal purposes as well, bringing the total federal race
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money to $65,000 directly spent by the DNC or its affiliated groups
operating out of 400 North or 430 South Capital Street in
Washington (depending on the Democratic entity). This unusually
large sum of money was for the Swett race, and, on information and
belief, help to Keefe or Durkin was a minor part of this sudden
infusion of DNC cash. It is also 1likely, on information and
belief, that the $10,000 received by the state party on November 9
was used to pay Swett related expenses and violated earmark and
allocation rules. (TAB 29).
23. The bulk of the funds above described were used for the

massive last minute media blitz, and last week mailings (TAB 30)

all paid for by DSC of New Hampshire to evade the spending limit

Swett had agreed to. The DSC postage permit was used as can be
seen by the DSC postage bill of $21,250 between October 23 and
November 2 alone. (TAB 31). The itemized disbursements set out
below are for federal candidates only. Because the Durkin and
Keefe campaigns were almost entirely self sustaining, the
complainant believes that the following funds were spent on behalf
of the Swett campaign largely derived from the illegal Lantos
earmarked money sent to the DSC as set forth below:

10/17/90 11,000 Share Systems Voter I1.D.
10/23/90 4,250 U.S. Postal Sys. Postage
10/26/90 5,000 " Postage
10/29/90 4,000 " Postage
10/30/90 2,000 " Postage
11/1/90 5,000 " Postage
11/2/90 1,000 " Postage
10/24-11/9/90 48,098 Share Systems

10/29/90 4,944. Mail America

10/29/90 2,757. N.H. Mailing

TOTAL:

$ 88,050.




¢ ¢

12
24. WHEREFORE, your complainant prays that appropriate fines and

penalties will be imposed in this case:

o Kzl

G. M. (Bill) Quraishi
416 Street, Joseph Avenue
Half Moon Bay, California 94019

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN MATEO

Personally appeared before me one G. M. (Bill) Quraishi who
swore, under penalty of perjury and the provisions of 18 U.S.C. s.
1001 that the above complaint was true to the best of his knowledge
and belief.

Dated: March '™ , 1991 %‘// Z{/"‘-ﬁ/

otary Public

OFFICAL 8EAL
JACK A. MYERS

8AN MATEQ COUNTY
My Comwn. Bp. Aup. 84, 1000
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Swett accused of overspending

Complaint puts excess at $234,476

From staff and wire reports

A Republican state lawmaker filed
a complaint yesterday with the attor-
ney general‘s office that U.S. Rep.
Dick Swett spent $234.476 more in his
campaign for Congress than the law
allows.

Swett said the charges were poiiti-
cally motivated and were the work of
the loser in the race. former con-
gressman Chuck Douglas.

“I will never be surprised bv anv-
thing after what I went through to get
elected,” Swett said this moming. It
compels me to be ever vigiant
(Douglas) is a great motivator for me
to walk the straight and narrow. 1
can’t be grateful enough for him.”

The complaint was filed by Rep.
Natalie Flanagan. of Atkinson. who
denied that her motivation was poiiti

cal. In an inter-
view with the
Union Leader.
Douglas said yes-
terday the “com-
plaint speaks for
itself. (Flanagan)
is the author of
the law and the
best one to know
its intent. I ha-
ven't had a
Swett Sgigce to read it

Douglas said in December that he
was investigating whether Swett sub-
stantially overspent his campaign
limit.

Flanagan's complaint aileged
Swett's campaign laundered thocu-
sands of dollars through natioral and
state Democratic Party commuttees

Flanagan alleged Swett lied when
he promised to abide by the state’s
$200,000 limit in the pri election,
and the $200,000 limit in the
election. She said $234,476 was spent
abo;-e the limit.

If the attorney general agrees with
Flanagan, Swett's campaign could be
fined up to half the excess spent
Swett’'s campaign already has a
fine of about $400 for going slightly
over spending limits.

State law doesn’t bar goliu'cal par-
ties from spending on behalf of candi-
dates. but Flanagan said Swett
agreed to limit spending by the party
and his family on his behalf when he
agreed to the voluntary spending law.

She said in signing the voluntary
i:mit affidavit under oath, he “subject-
ed himself to a limit of expenditures
as well as to the penalties of perjury

because he had no intention of

B See SWETT — Page A-8
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- S WE " Continued from Page A-1

abiding by the limits.”

The law says that regardless of
where the money comes from it
doesn't change the amount of the
voluntary spending cap.

Flanagan contended the cam-
paign listed expenses for the pn-
mary that actually were for the
general election. She cited $36,500
paid out a day before the Sept. 11
primary for radio and television
commercials intended to air after
the primary.

Katrina Lantos-Swett, Swett's
wife, said the complaint also could
be ieveled at Douglas. Neither was
opposed in the primanes.

“In a race where you have beoth
the Republican and Democratic
candidate (without opposition) . . .
there is in fact only one race and
that’s the general election,” Lan-
tos-Swett said. _

Secretary of State William Gard-
ner said that money spent during
the primary election must be spent
on items and services used for the
primary election. There are excep-
tions and nuances to the law how-
ever. Lawn signs purchased and
planted during the primary elec-
tion. for example. are still good for
the general election.

Flanagan also charged that
Lantos-Swett received money from
her father, U.S. Rep. Thomas Lan-
tos, as a consultant in his cam-
paign that actually was diverted to
his son-in-law’s effort.

“The dramatic increase in her
payvment to almost $2.000 a month
during 1990 was in fact a campaign
expenditure because the additional
payment by her father was unjusti-
fied based upon her full-time com-
mitment as manager and treasurer
of her husband's campaign and re-
duced Swet!’s reported expendi-
tures by at ieast $10.000." Flan-
agan’'s complaint stated.

Lantos-Swett said her pav was
greater than in past vears with her
tather’'s campa:gns because her
work produced “an unprecedentecd
vear In fund raising. and these
things den't happen by them-
selves.”

“The notion that the fairly mod-
est compensaton that I received

. has anything to do with the

Swett campaign is just sour grapes
and kind of a petty and very per-
sonal and fundamentally irrelevant
issue to raise,” she said.

Flanagan also complained that

the Democratic National Commiit-
tee and Democratic State Commit-
tee accepted $113,000 in contribu-
tions from Lantos and others to be
spent on Swett's behalf The money
wasn't spent by Swett, and thus
didn't count toward his spending
cap.
Lantos-Swett said the party was
Just doing its job within the limits
of the law. and did nothing that
was not repeated within the GOP.

She said the complaint “seems
to express a problem with some-
thing 1 consider a basic and very
healthy part of our system: namely
that the Democratic Party is sup-
posed to assist Democratic candi-
dates in getting elected and the
Republican Party is supposed to
assist Republican candidates get-

ting elected.”

Flanagan also charged that it is
“beyond belief” that Swett needed
the $61.646 he reported to wind
down his campaign.

“It far ex any reasonable
sum and. in fact, at least $50,000 of
it is for campaign consultants and
bills incurred that were paid after
the election but had been used or
benefited the election process prior
to Nov. 6, her complaint stated.

She said Swett reported making
small or no payments to campaign
staff before Nov. 6, but substantial
payments as part of the “wind
down" expenses.

She said Democrat Joe Keefe
spent $749 closing up his campaign
and Douglas spent $12,871.

Lantos-Swett said wind-down
costs for a winning campaign are
predictably more than those for a
loser due to transitional expenses,
such as keeping a large staff be-
tween the end of the campaign and
the beginning of the term of office.




Swett accused of campaign

By KEVIN LANDRIGAN
Telegraph Staff
CONCORD — US. Rep. Dick

Swett, D-N.H., was accused Monday
of spending $430.000 during his
general election campaign — more
than double the amount allowed
under state law — by using money
from relatives and supporters fun-
neled through national and state
political committees.

Rep. Natalie Flanagan, R Atkin-
son, co-author of the state’'s cam-
paign expense limitation law, filed
the 14-page complaint against Swett
with both Attorney General John
Arnold and Secretary of State
‘William Gardner.

Spokesmen for both officials said
they have taken the matter under
advisement.

The complaint contends that while
Swett agreed to limit his general
election expenses to $200,000, his
received $434,476 in
through

campaign

assistance, most of 1t

“independent expenditures’' made by
other political committees.

Katrina Lantos-Swett, the con-
gressman's wife and campaign trea-
surer, said she hadn't received the
complaint but called the overspend-
ing charges ‘‘preposterous.”

“The idea we overspent by more
than $230,000 is wild, it's preposter-
ous and just kind of off the wall,
frankly," she said.

“'She (Flanagan) seems to be
complaining about practices which
are 100 percent legal and 100

If there proves to be merit
to state Rep. Natalie Flanagan's
claim, U.S. Rep. Dick Swett,
right, would have to pay the
state about $117,000 in
penalties, or 50 percent of
expenses made above the limit.

percent fully reported on campaign
finance reports.”

If there proves to be merit to
Flanagan's claim, the Swett cam-
paign would have to pay the state
about $117,000 in penalties, or 50
percent of expenses made above the
limit.

Swett already paid a penalty of
about $1,000 for spending roughly
$4,000 above the $200,000 Ilimit,
but Lantos-Swett said that penalty
may be reduced somewhat once the

violation

campaign is refunded for overbilling
by some creditors.

The complaint is accompanied by
114 pages of exhibits and campaign
expenditures tracing not only
Swett's campaign. account but the
reports of the Democratic State
Committee, Democratic National
Committee and the Committee for
U.S. Rep. Thomas Lantos, D-Calif,,
Swett's father-in-law.

Specifically, the suit contends that

. Lantos’ committee gave $56,025 in

contributions to political party com-
mittees and labor groups that did
work on Swett's behalf.

The complaint also notes that
Katrina Lantos-Swett was campaign
treasurer of political committees for
both her husband and her father.

But Lantos-Swett noted that state
campaign finance law does not limit
how much political parties can spend
to benefit candidates, nor does it
restrict any other type of third-party
expenditure made on a candidate's
behalf.

SWETT Page 7

Swett =====cmmmcm e

 From Page 1

.’Throughout the waning days of
the campaign, former U.S. Rep.
Chuck Douglas made many of the
jame charges alleged in this com-
plaint. After his defeat, Douglas told
The Telegraph a lawsuit against
Swett would be filed but that he
Would not be issuing it.

Among the allegations made in the
complaint are:

e Swett’'s own campaign reports
confirm he spent at least $17.464
above the spending limit.

o The Swett campaign bought
$30,500 of radio and television
advertising and counted it as a
‘primary expense when it was used
‘during the ﬂulsump‘nign,.euw,

O G

e Swett's wife received a
**$10,000 subsidy’’ from her father in
excess pay as campaign treasurer to
“mask the fact that Katrina's
husband (Swett) had wvirtually no
income’’ during 1990.

e On Oct. 4 last year, the Lantos
campaign committee gave $30,000
to the Democratic National Commit-
tee. The suit alleges that money was
then funneled to the New Hampshire
Democratic Party, which financed a
number of mailings for the Swett
campaign.

e The Lantos campaign comimit-
tee spent $11,025 for a poll done in
New Hampshire which, the suit
claims, wap obviously to heneht
Swett and was paid for 1 such a
way to evade the cap.
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SWETT

il. INCOME

INCOME: The term “income” 12 utended to be all-inclusive, a8 defined in the At The identity of the soures
and the amount or category of value of all insome which exeseds $100 from any < wriree must be disclesed
separstely. Oross Income should be listed, but the net inceme derived from business may alsn be reported. The
type of inssme showld be identified as enlury, cosmmiaion, pensiens, |onoraria, dividends, stereat, ete. [n reporting
any henoraria, inchude the date of receipt and Indisate whish hanereris, if any. were assigned (0 charity. Esvle-
slen: lncome from current US. Government emplayment. -

Ver mare bformation, ose dutalied Instrurtion Rnshiet ot page 7.
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aren’'t wan those peuple

around”

A student and athlets

Although Swull has apenl most
of his adult life outside the state -
at Yale Unwversity in Counecticut
ond in Caldomia - he spent must
of his youth New llampahire.

Swett's moved to the
Lakes Region in 1960. His father,
Thil. owned and operated a large
construction company specalizing
in se treaunent plants.

The tamlly settled in Gilford and
Swett attended Lacooia High
School, where he excelled in fuul-
ball and track and field As » se-
nior, be placed second in the state
decathion, and he was an all-state
footdall star three years in a row.

to his 1973 high
k, sporis were not
his only forte. He was president of

Instead, Swett focused on sports
m his s!uga;‘u His eflorts on the
¢ j . D his junior
g mtt set m%_’ decath-
on record, which stands to this
dav He was captlain of the track
team his senior year and was
swarded the Masters Cup for his
achievemnents.
While at Yale, Swett

Lantos, a California uni®rsity pro-
fessor who would latef be elected
to Conyresy. A whiz kiddwho gradu-
ated bom Yale at 18, Wy

tos went on to firush la

two years, then took a

counse! to the Senate Jud
Committee.

1n August 1980, Swett and Lan-
tos marned Slowly, Swett's ati.
tude about politics and poltcians
began to change.

“1 love public ilfe and politcs”
his wile said, “and | take some o!
the _redit {or hun getting inlo poi.-
tcs "

Golng Wast

After praduating from Yale 11
1979, Swetl maved to San Francis.
tv. where there were arclutecture
Jubs tu be had and where Uark and
fierd athlelee were patherr) s

© My wasnt ningle-mi
naivow minded n doing >

Wcber said “He was a good team
player and a good worker,”

1n 198:. afler two at Skd-
more. Swett decided to start his
own design and construction fsm
specialining in smaller projects and
residenual rcnovations and addi-
uons.

“He found doing the big corpo-
rate scene was stfing and he
wanted to be an entrepreneur,” re-
members Gregory 2 San
Francisco tect and Yale ciass-
mate who did some work
Swett's firm,

It was during those
in Caltfornis that Swett

tive energy piants, and
his sun ‘o be president
currently on leave from the
ny pe the outcome of the
Bi race )
The &t project Swett 19

. : i g h
Pembroke. The m!ect was o joint
venture with the Dresser-Rand

company, which specialized In
heavy machinery.

Under the proposal, the 15-meg-
awa't plant tou&! énve sold 1ts
electricity to Unitil Corp., the par-
er! company of Cunwr?ﬂ(ﬂ‘[:!

Swett waa reaponsible (or Bt"‘
Ing the pruect through "
bioke's planiwig process and for
secunng permils (rom the statle
and {eders] governments.

Pat Fatr was chairwoman of the
Pe:ncr~xe Pianrung Board when
the o maa) A atyrfaced in 1086
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MERSIMACK Loy
WARRANTY DEED REGISTRY r7pz:as

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That George Karoutsos of
42 Tirrell Road, Bedford, New Hampshire for consideration paid,
grant to Richard N. Lantos-Swett and Y. Katrina Lantos-Swett, husband
and wife, as joint tenants with rights of sirvivorship, of 116 Central
Avenue, Burlingame, San Mateo County, California,

WITB WARRANTY COVENANTS, a certain tract of land together
with the buildings thereon located on Dow Road in the Town of
Bow, County of Merrimack and State of New Hampshire, and being
shown as Lot 43 A on a plan of land entitled "Resubdivision”
prepared by Richard D. Bartlett, L.L.S. for Wayne & Barbara
Rodsden, dated April 16, 1986, and recorded in Merrimack County
Registry of Deeds as Plan 8906 and according to which plan said
tract is more particularly bounded and described as follows:

Beginning at a bound in the southerly side of Dow Road and
at the northwesterly corner of the said Lot 43 A as shown on
the said plan; thence S 34° 27' 2S" E 471.26 feet to a point as
shown on the said plan; thence continuing by the same course
83.68 feet to a point; thence continuing by the same course
309.88 feet to a stone bound with drill hole at the
southwesterly corner of the said 1ot 43 A as shown on the said
plan; thence R 61° 41' 45" B 193,81 feet to a point as shown on
the said plan; thence N 29 ® 59' 50" W 778,76 feet to a bound
as shown on the said plan; thence S 68° 11' 30" W and along the
southerly sideline of the said Dow Road 62.17 feet to a bound;
thence continuing along the southerly sideline of Dow Road
gene-ally southwesterly by a curve with a radius of 575.00 feet
a distance of 148.10 feet to a bound as shown on the said plan;
thence continuing along the southerly sideline of Dow Road S
53° 26' 05" W 45.53 feet to the bound begun at as shown on the
said plan.

This property is subject to an easement held by the Public
Service Company of New Rampshire dated November 10, 1947 and
recorded at the Merrimack County Registry of Deeds, Book 658,
Page 255,

Meaning and intending to convey the same premises conveyed
to the grantor by deed of Wayne Rodsden and Barbara Hodsden
dated November 10, 1986 and recorded at the Merrimack Cot <%y
Registry of Deeds at Book 1f05 Page 0792,

Homestead rights do not apply to the within conveyance.

DATED this 28thday of May, 1987,
7
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Use of Campaign Funds, E‘iﬁdgml Ew at 2 ”;C §439
generally that campaign funds may be used to defray

of holding a Federal office and §pg : nrahibite the

Won y persons who were no

rs ot Congress on January 8, 1980. However, the :
House pl icti the use of ca unds §
an Mem&rs oi tge F’ouse. Iqi%e ruies require {Fat campaign Tung

be used solely for campaign purposes and_gpe : nrohibite th
use of campai 37 or ofhicial pu 3¢ Cam.*
paign funds also may not be used for defraying the cost of prepar.
ing or printing of any mail material to be sent in a mass mailing
under the Member's frank.3? Additionally, any proceeds from test;.
monials or other fundraising events are to be treated by Memberg
as campaign contributions subject to the restrictions discussed
above. 40

Nonincumbent candidates for the House are governed on!:- by 2
U.S.C. §439a, since they are not subject to the House rules. Tgn
statute was amended in the 36th Congress to prohibit nonincum-
bent candidates from using campaign funds for personal purposes,
similar to the restriction on Members by House rule. In a&rdition to
the statutory and rule restrictions on diversion of campaign funds
to personal use, it should be noted that such diversion may result
in an additional income tax liability for that individual since such
funds would generally be considered personal “income” to such
mrson"l

Bona fide campa)'g}{m . Members of the House are instruct-
ed by House Rule I, clause 6, to keep campaign funds separate
from personal funds; to convert no campaign funds to personal use
in excess of reimbursements for legitimate and verifiable prior
campaign expenses; and to expend no campaign funds not attribut-
able to bona fide campaign purposes. This clause of the Code of Of-
ficial Conduct was amended to read in its present form on March 2,
1977, by House Resolution 287, 95th Congress.

As discussed in the House debate preceding adoption of House
Resolution 287, no specific definition of “bona fide campaign pur-
pose’’ is provided in the rules. What would be considered an appro-
priate or legitimate political or campaign expense would depend on
the facts of a specific situation:

We sought to make no strict definition of political ex-
penses. What is political is a matter of fact rather than
definition. We believe that if a Member travels home for a
political purpose, and it is covered by his volunteer com-
mittee out of political accounts, that this is a political ex-
pense.

However, what we have tried to do is :0 confine ex-
penses from political accounts or volunteer committee ac-

*" House Rule XLIII ¢l A

3¢ House Rule XLV

3% House Rule XLVI. cl. ¢

s House Rule XLIII. ¢l 7

*:1RS Proc $x-19 11965 Revenue Ruling 74-2¢ %73
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Dou-t ery Pege  (gQR LINE NLMOIR

1on cogwd lram sch Reparts snd Sttemaents may Not B 10!d o7 UG Dy SRy DertON 'or the purpois af soliciting contributions of lor commerc:.
ather Then using the Aeme and sddress of &ny palitical commities 10 SolK:t CONNDUTANS 1rarm syu2h commuttoe.

ME OF COMMITTEE (ja.Pull

“Cw r

Congress Committee

A Pull Nomae, Malling Adérem end ZIP Codo Purposs of Disbursement Oate {month, Amaunt of Each
Jordy Green - ‘ cay, yeer! Disbursement This Perioc
y Consulting tement T
Darthmouth College 6/25/90 $270.00
Yanover, NH 03755 _Lwal'u:Ume L_]Gonmll
{ Qther (specity) !
3. Pull Name, Mailing Address snd Z1P Code [ Purpose of Disbursament | Ouste imonth, Amount af Each
Jill Hadawa i~ J [ ey, vesr! Disdursement This Pericc
Y0 Timmins Rd. | Consulting B76/90 $570.00
30w, NH 03304 | Oisdursement for: K Primary LJcm"uﬁ/20,90 $§348.900
‘ ) [ Other soecity) |
f C. Full Neme, Msiling Addram and ZIP Code ! Purgase of Distursement Oate (month, ] Amount of Each
y 1tin _ dav, vear) oubcgmom This Perioc
: | ConsmEnie /3788 | STEETS
"_Q_\?bummomfov: & Primary 1___:Gon0nl 5/18/¢3 £300.C0°0

' | Other (sDecity)

1 D, Puil Name, Mailing Address sna 2!P Code

"

| Purpose of Oisbursement ! Oate imeontn,
{ ‘ cay, vear!
Cansylting 5/31/99

!Gm~v§6/15/90

&mwx for: E_;anm L_.
{1 Other lspecity)

Amount of Each 4
Disdursement This Perigs

$260.00
$500.00 f

1
T €. Full Nsme, Mailing Addrem snd ZIP Code
Katrina Lantos-Swett
19 Dow Rd.
LBOU, NH 03304

: Purpose of Disbursement i Date imonth,
rreimb.p.0o. dOX fee, dav. year)
nhoto. camp. materials 4/10/90

c-aurwm'u 1x Primery

L._! General }
T owmer tspecity) ‘

Amount of Each
Disdursement This Perioc

§167.241

F. Full Name, Mailing Address ana 2!P Code

iy

Purpose of Disbursement . . Oate imontn,
raimb. bumperstrips,officCady. vem
supplies, balloons 5/4/90 |

' Dudursemen tor: iX -anuy i_Gcmm i
L Other !snecity) ’

'$692.0C9

Amount of Each
Dispursement This Pericc

G. Full Name, Meiling Addrem and 21P Code
New England Telephone
2.0. Box 9000
Manchester, NH

w -

03108

Cate imonth,
dasy. veer)

3/8/90

Generat .

Purposs of Disdurtement

alephone service
X  Primgry

Zusursamaent for:
Cther (spec:fy:

Amount of Esch
Disdursement This Pence

$302.00

} M. Fuil Neme, Meiling Addraus and Z!P Code
Gaoff Parkerseon
Ray Road

Cate (month,
dav, vesr)
) -
/3780

-

Purpose of Disdurement

Z2py machine

Amgunt of Eacn

oo

} Junbarton, NH 03301 Sadburtement ftor- X Primary Genens:
Cthar fspecity!
v i, Full Name, Maihing Address and 2iP Code Purgote of Didursemaent Cate (montn Amount of Each
‘ Cay. vesr) Cuduriement Thiy Pericc
i
! ;
H C sdurtemaent for Pesmar Genery:
: = mary Geners

Cther ‘1pec fyi

--3TCTAL of Dubursements Thi Page (oprionai) . . .

[
1)
5.
Ut
[@9]

whe

STAL This Period (leat page tAs -~ ~umber Gniy)
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Neveaber 29, 1990

RESULAR W3

Desald K. Aadersen

Clerk

U.8. Houase of Representatives
Office of the Clerk
Vashiagtea DC 1203135-6601

[

[t ]

R ] B ERY [ ]

Dear lr. Aaderses,

Ve receoived your letter dated Neveamber 16, 1990
regardiag saiea ceatridutieas. It was eur error met to Dhave

tacluded the PAC 1aitisle ea our ferm. These are the
cerrectionst

09/11/90 Americea Pestsl Verkers Usies PAC $1,000
09/11/90 Bakery, Ceafecticacry & Tedacce

Verkere Iatersstiossl PAC $300
09/06/9%0 Hetel & Restaursat Bapleyees

Istersational Vaten TIP $200
09/03/90 United Steel Verkers of Aserice PAF $1,000
09/21/90 Aserices Pederatioca of Teschers

Cepe £2 $5,000

Ve are hopeful this will clear uwp say questioas you have
conceraiag these PAC ceatributiens. Noae of the sdeve vere
coatridutieas frea aeay uaniea they vwvere sll aade fros
establiohed separate segregated fuade of voluatary
contributiens.

Thask you for youwr coasideratioa.

“' \\(4_{' e z-,:&r, Y

Y. Catrisa Laatoe-Svett
Tressurer Dick Swett for
Coagress Comaittee

ILS/ Jh
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oCRULAR MAR,
JuL 12830

July 11, 1990
ID: 085979

Office of the Clerk House Of Repr
1036 Loagworth E.O.B.

Washington, DC 205135

Dear Strs,

In response to
January 31, 1960
questioa acd as far

non-arty political
the

information.
ia your letter.

accompanyiag schedule also listed theas for line llec.
am enclosing & copy of the detailed suamery page as vell as a
copy of the first page of the accompanyiag schedule for

your April 20, 1990 letter regarding our
report, 1 have reviewed the report in
as [ can detersine the contridutions froa
comaittees vere reported on line llc and

I

your

I Hope thia resolves your coancerans as expressed

Sincerely, /,.-—-—-

/,‘d:jﬁa/ L 7/7‘

Latrina Laatos-Swett
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July 11, 1990

iy

ID: C00112250

I 2w wg

HRIVHF 0y e o

R. Todd Gerlough
Federal Electioa Comsissiosn

999 B St., N.W.
Weshington, DC 20463

Dear Sirs,
Enclosed you will fia2d an smenément to the 12 day Pre-
Primary report as per yoar letter ot Jume 26, 1990. Plesse
tgken 1in thie

advise me {f acy further stegs need to de

regara.

Sincerely, / ’

Kstrinae Lantos-Svett

LSO 91 00r 06
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July 11, 1990

ID: C00:12230

R. Todd Gerlewgd

fedoral Electiea Coamisasios
99 8 Sc, N ¥,

Yeshingtes, DC 20463

N

R T IReRY]

IR LW ey
ORIy

Dear Sires,

Saclesed 7jyou vill find en eneadaest teo the 12 day Pre-
Primery report as per your 1080sr of June 26, 1990. Please
this

advise eo¢ if aay further 000pPS seed te de takem in

regard.
Stacsrely,

tstriae Lantee-Swett

4 ey o o amt B o B) S3F B EUAIRD W SETRE Gy SRRy BY futvw Swes




1985-1986 Cycle:

Comm. for Bud Harrison

Kelly for Assembly

Nevin for Assembly
Speier for Assembly
Bacciocco for Assembly
Cranston for Senate

Papan for Senate

ALL California

Cash on hand at start of 1985 - $417,875.94




@ @

1987-1988 Cycle:

(Cal.) Jaquith for Council
~(Cal.) Gimmona Campaign Fund
(N.Y.) Louise Slaughter for Congress
(N.Y.) Ackerman for Congress
(Cal.) Griffin Campaign Fund
(Cal.) Vince Rios
(Cal.) Schumacker for Sheriff
(Cal.) Teglia Campaign Comm.
(D.C.) Valley Education Fund
(Cal.) Bonkers for Congress
(Cal.) California State Society
(Tenn.) Al Grove for President
(Cal.) Burton for Assembly
(Cal.) Bury for Councilman
(N.H.) Donchess for Congress
(N.H.) Keefe for Congress
(Pa.) Kostmayer for Congress
(Colo.) Coloradans for Skaggs
(Cal.) Unity 88
(Cal.) Brown for Congress

(Tenn.) Gore for Senate

N.H. got §$500.
Lantos had $374,704.05 at the start of 1987




& @

1989-90 Cycle

(D.C.) DCCC

(Cal.) Re-elect Chris Pallas
(N.H.) Coos County Dems.
(N.H.) N.H. Democratic Party
(D.C.) Dem. National Comm.
(N.H.) Granite State Coalition

(N.H.) Wayne King for Senate

(N.H.) Nancy Richards-Stower for Council

(N.H.) Keefe For Congress

(Nev.) Billbray for Congress (8/9/90)
(N.H.) Donchess for Senate

(Cal.) Martinez for Assembly
(N.H.) Swett for Congress

(Mass.) Atkins for Congress

(N.H.) Prestcn Testimonial Dinner
(N.H.) Wayne King for Senate
(N.R.) Stephens for Congress
(Cal.) Bates for Congress

{(N.H.) Blacketcr for Governor
(Cal.) Feinstein for Governor
(N.H.) Grandmaison for Governor

(La.) Hoosiers for Roemer




¢ .

Of the $56,700 in contributions, $20,100 came to New Hampshire for

spending here and the $30,000 to the DNC came back to New Hampshire

as part of $41,000 funneled back by the DNC. Lantos writes a
$30,000 check on October 4 to the DNC and it cuts a check to the

N.H. Democratic Party on October 25 for $39,000.

Total New Hampshire spending is $50,100 by Lantos.

At the beginning of 1989, Lantos had $470,182 on hand.
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SCHEDULE A

‘IZED RECEIPTS

eath catoguiy vl 1he
Detsiled Sumwnery Poye
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ﬁw ntermation copied lrem guch Reper 1t and S1800manis may net be 10ld of visd By 8ny Persen 1or the PurPees of solxctiing contributions er loe thu
urPeses, other then using the name and address of sny pelitical commit 100 10 sulicit contrDutions 10m such commities.
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€ OF COMMITTEE (in Full)

COMMITTEL

NEW HAMPSHIRE DEMOCRATIC STATL
A. Full Neme, Molling Adidven and 21P

Maddinirly L Retise c-kh‘u.l logne
roe Comnectinead Mre, W
Wash .\“fn De. 20036

Dete imenth,
dey, yow)

10-08-490

Neme of Emplover

Outupation

Recoipt For:
[T} Other tinscity):

“Ageremte Yoor-10-Oste >3 309D

" | (Tom Lesttes or Congrets

9. Full Name, Mduq Addvess ond 2P

Primery L_]Gu-u
%.#-»
P Rox 611

'BurIme.CA ”0/,

Nome o Emplover o
ooy, yvow)

/0-28-%0

Oceupstion

Receipt For: Primery

|0|hov (specily):

] Generat

Aggopste Yew-10-Dste >3 |/
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ing earmarked ibutions (11 CFR 110.6),
including reporting requirements.

Please note that this article applies
only to contributions earmarked to candi-
dates and their authorized committees.

(For information on contributions earmarked
to unauthorized committees, see 11 CFR
102.8 and AOs 1983-18 and 1981-57.)

pDefinition of Earmarked Contribution

An earmarked contribution is one which
the contributor directs (either orally or
in writing) to a candidate or his or her
authorized committee through an inter-
mediary or conduit. 11 CFR 110.6(b)(1).

Definition of Conduit or Intermediary

With certain exceptions discussed
below, a conduit or intermediary (the terms
are synonymous) is a person who receives
and forwards an earmarked contribution to a
candidate or authorized coonmittee. 11 CFR
110.6(b)(2). A conduit may be a political
committee or an unregistered entity such as
an individual or a partnership. In either
case, the conduit must comply with the
reporting requirements outlined below.

Note that acting as a conduit may
affect the conduit’s contribution limits,
as explained below.

Who is Not Considered a Conduit. Cer-
tain entities who receive and forward con-
tributions are not considered conduits and
are not subject to the requirements of
11 CFR 110.6.

o Certain individyals are considered
campaign agents™ rather than conduits:
campaign workers—Dbcth paid staff and
full-time volunteers—and individuals who
are expressly authorized to engage in
fundraising on behalf of the campaign and
who occupy significant positions in the
campaign organization. 11 CFR 110.6(b)
(2'(i)tA) and (E).

“In determining whether an individual is
acting as an agent of the candidate’s cam-
paign cr as an agent of another entity, one
consideration would be whether the individ-
ual’s solicitation expenses were reimbursed
by the campaign committee or by another
entity. Explanation and Justification of
11 CFR 110.6(b)(2), 54 Fed. Reg. 34106.

o A commercial fundraising firm retained by
an authorized committee is considered a
campaign agent rather than a conduit.

11 CFR 110.6(b)(2}(1)(D).

o A fundraising representative conducting
joint fundraising with an authorized
committee is not considered a conduit.
Fundraising representatives must comply
with the joint fundraising regulations
(11 CFR 102.17 and 9034.8). 11 CFR
110.6(b)(2)(i)(B).

o An affiliated committee of the authorized
committee is not considered a conduit.

11 CFR 110.6(b)(2)(1)(C).

Who May Not Act as a Conduit. Persons
who are prohibited from making contribu-
tions or expenditures in connection with
federal elections-——corporations, labor
organizations, foreign nationals and
federal government contractors-—are not
permitted to act as conduits. 11 CFR
110.6(b)(2)(ii). Similarly, an individual
acting as representative of a corporation
or labor organization may not act as a
conduit. 11 CFR 110.6(b)(2}(i)(A) and (E).
(Corporate and labor PACs—also called
separate segregated funds—may, however,
act as conduits.)

Earmarking and Contribution Limits

An earmarked contribution counts
against the original contributor’s limit
for the recipient candidate. 11 CFR
110.6(a). The conduit’s contribution limit
is affected only if the conduit exercises
direction or control over the contributor’s
choice of candidate. In that case, the
contribution counts against the contribu-
tion limits of both the original contri-
butor and the conduit. 11 CFR 110.6(d).

Reports by Conduits

Any conduit—whether a political
committee or an unregistered entity like a
partnership or an individual—mmust comply
with the special reporting requirements for
earmarked contributions regardless of
whether the earmarked contribution is
temporarily deposited in the conduit’s bank
account or passed directly to the campaign.

Report to Recipient Committee. A ccn-
duit must forward both the earmarked
contributicn and a repert to the recipient
committee within 10 days after the con-
duit’s receipt of the contribution. 11 CFR
102.8 and 110.6(c)(1)(1i1),

Report Filed with Goverrment. A poli-
tical committee conduit must disclose the
required information on an earmarked con-
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tribution on its next regularly scheduled

report filed with the appropriate federal

office (the FEC, the Clerk of the House or
the Secretary of the Senate).

A conduit that is not a registered pol-
itical committee must disclose the required
information in a letter to the FEC within
30 days after forwarding the earmarked con-
tribution. 11 CFR 110.6{c)(1)!{i) and (ii).

Contents of Reports. The conduit’s
report must contain the following informa-
tion on any earmarked contribution:

o Whether the contribution was transmitted
to the candidate in the form of cash, the
contributor’s check or the conduit’s
check;

The name and address of the contributor
and, if the contribution is from an
individual and exceeds $200, the contri-
butor’s occupation and employer;

The candidate designated tc receive the
contributicn;

The amount of the contribution and the
date it was received by the conduit;

The date the contribution was fcrwarded
to the candidate or the candidate’s
authorized committee; and

In those cases where the conduit exer-
cised direction or control, an indication
that the earmarked contribution counts
against the conduit’s limit for the
recipient candidate as well as the con-
tributor’s limit. 11 CFR 110.6(c){1l)(iv)
and (d)(2).

OConduit’s Account. If an earmarked
contribution passes through a political
committee’s account, the committee dis-
closes the information listed above on
Schedules A and B. If the committee for-
wards the contribution without depositing
it, the committse discloses the information
as a memo entry” on Schedules A and B.

11 CFR 110.6(c)(1)(v).

Report by Recipient Committee

The recipient candidate committee must
report any conduit that forwards an aggre-
gate of more than $200 in earmarked contri-
butions during a calendar year. The com-
mittee must itemize the following infor-
mation on a Schedule A filed with 1ts next
requiarly scheduled report:
o The identification of the conduit (name,

address and, if the conduit is an

2 . . ,
A memo entry 1s supplemental infcrmaticn

on a reporting schedule. The dellar amount
in a memo entry 1s not incorporated into
the total fiqure.

individual, his or her occupation and
employer};

The total amount of earmarked contribu-
tions forwarded by the conduit and their
date of receipt;

The identi{fication of the original
contributcr, if the contribution is from
a political committee {regardless of
amount) or if the contribution is from an
individual and aggregates over $200 (see
11 CFR 104.3(a)(3) and (4)); and

In cases where the conduit exercised
direction cor control, an indication that
the earmarked contribution counts against
the conduit’'s limit (as well as the
original donor’s). 11 CFR 1l1C.6(c)(2)

On September 5, 1990, the U.S. District
Court for the District of New Jersey grant-
ed the FEC’'s motion to hold the John A.
Dramesi for Congress Cosmittee and its
treasurer, Russell E. Paul, in contempt of
court for failing to pay civil penalties
originally imposed by the court in May and
July 1986. The court had ordered each
defendant to pay a $5,000 penalty for ac-
cepting an excessive contribution. (Civil
Action No. 85-4039; see the July and
September 1986 issues of the Record for a
summary of the previous judgments.)

Although finding the Dramesi committee
in contempt, the court did not take any
action against it since the committee is
defunct. The court, however, rejected Mr.
Paul’s argqument that he should not be held
perscnally liable for payment of the penal-
ty imposed against him. The court stated
that, in its previcus decision in this
case, "we determined that Russell E. Paul’s
liability was distinct from the liability
of the Committee." The court went on to
state that, because "pclitical committees
have a tenderncy to dissclve after an
unsuccessful campaign,” Congress chose to
hold an indivicual-—the committee treas-
urer—responsitle fcr compliance with the
Federal Electicn Campaign Act. See
2 U.S.C. §432¢a) and (c!). It therefore
fcllows that "an individual will also stand
respensible for his indiscretions as a
treasurer.”

The court, in addition to holding Mr.
Paul :n contempt, ordered him tc pay the

‘continued;
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Wealthy Ky. Democrat Exceeded
Donation Limits, Groups Charge

By Tim Curran
Common Cause and the Center for Re-
spoasive Politics cach filed complaints
with the Federal Election Commission last
week over $250,000 in contributions made
by a wealthy Louisville woman to natonal

According to the complaints, Mary C.
Bingham, the matriarch of the prominent
family that until recently owned the Louis-
ville Counier Joumal and other mediaenter-
prises in the staie, gave the massive dona-
ton with the intention of having the Demo-
craic Nauonal Committee direct it to
Kentucky Democratic Senate candidate
Harvey Sloane.

Rob Bingham, the grandson of Mary
Bingham, scrved as a campaign speech-
wrilter for Sloane , who lost to incumbent
GOP Sen. Mich McConnell on Nov. 6.

Bingham's donations appear to have
come at 8 time when Sloanc's campaign
was 20 points down in the polls and de-
clared all but dead by pundits. Aided by a
late media blitz, Sloane lost to McConnell
narrowly, 52 10 48 percent.

The Common Cause complaint targets
Bingham, Sloane, his campsign commit-
tee, the DNC, and the Kentucky Demo-
cratic party for allegedly scheming “io
laonder a massive illegal contnbution
Bingham made for the puspose of influcnc-
ing the 1990 Senate race in Kentucky....”

The group alleges that Bingham donated
$250,000 in “soft money” to the DNC in
early October and that an agreeinent was
made to transfer the money to the Kentucky
party, where it would be used to benefit the
Sloane campaign.

All the donations and transfers were

madc o influence a federal election, Com-
mon Cause argues, and they therefore fall
under the junsdiction of the Federal Elec-
von Campaign AcL Federal law limits
individuals 10 $20,000 in donations (o a
national party commitice, and $5,000 1o a
state committce in a calendar year.

A complaint filed by the Center for Re-
sponsive Politics (CRP) is more direct,
aimed at Bingham's violation of so-called
"hard moncy” limits. Individuals contribu-
tors have a ceiling of $25,000 for all contri-
butions aimed directly at influencing fed-
eral elections, and FEC records show that
Bingham, 85, was clearly in violation of
that limit.

Over the 1989-90 cycle, according o
FEC figurcs, Bingham donated $57,700
dircctly to Democratic candidates and
committecs. Ellen Miller, director of the
CRP,